1

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Patricia Fleishhacker, Appellant
- 2. Walter Fleishhacker, Appellee
- 3. John A. Ferrell, counsel for Appellee
- 4. J. Deborah Martin, counsel for Appellee
- 5. R. Shane McLaughlin, counsel for Appellant
- 6. Nicole H. McLaughlin, counsel for Appellant

R. Shane McLaughlin

Attorney of record for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the Trial Court erred in finding that Walter Fleishhacker's pre-marital interest in Northeast Metal Processors, Inc. was not marital property subject to equitable division where the property was commingled with marital property.
- 2. Whether, in any event, the Trial Court erred in valuing Walter Fleishhacker's pre-marital interest in Northeast Metal Processors, Inc. as of the date of the temporary order in this case, rather than the date of the Parties' marriage.
- 3. Whether the Trial Court erred in considering the value of Northeast Metal Processors, Inc. at the time of the temporary order, rather than its value as of the date of the Parties' divorce, thus depriving Patricia Fleishhacker of the appreciation in value.
- 4. Whether the Trial Court erred in disregarding the significant debt owed by Walter Fleishhacker to Northeast Metal Processors, Inc. in valuing the business as marital property.
- 5. Whether the Trial Court erred when it found that certain items of jewelry were marital property, where the items were personal gifts from Walter Fleishhacker to Patricia Fleishhacker.
- 6. Whether the Court erred when it failed to determine that the Old Waverly Golf Club and Cameron Club memberships were marital property subject to equitable division.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Patricia Fleishhacker ("Patricia") filed her Complaint for Divorce against Walter Fleishhacker ("Walter") on April 1, 2004. (R. Vol. 1 p. 5). Walter answered and filed a "Cross-Complaint" on April 21, 2004. (R. Vol. 1 p. 23). The Court entered an agreed temporary order on June 22, 2004. (R. Vol. 1 p. 31).

The matter was tried before the Chancery Court of Lee County, Mississippi on May 7, 9, 10 and 11, 2007. (R. Vol. 2, p. 233). Following the trial, the Court rendered its opinion on June 15, 2007, awarding Patricia a divorce from Walter on the grounds of adultery and ruling as to the valuation and distribution of marital assets. (See R. Vol. 2, p. 233-38).

The Trial Court entered an Amended Order denying Patricia's Motion for a New Trial and/or Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment on September 25, 2007. (R. Vol. 2, p. 255-56). Patricia timely perfected this appeal. (R. Vol. 2, p. 265).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Patricia and Walter were married on January 3, 1981. (R. Vol. 1, p. 5). The couple resided together in Belden, Mississippi, in Lee County at the time of their separation. (*Id.*). The couple separated on February 3, 2001, after Patricia learned that Walter had an affair with another woman. (*See* R. Vol. 3, p. 240). Walter admitted the affair at trial and admitted that he was guilty of uncondoned adultery. (T. Vol. 2, p. 31; Exhibits Vol. 1, Ex. 2).

No children were born to Patricia and Walter's marriage. (R. Vol. 1, p. 5). During their over twenty years of marriage, the couple lived an extremely comfortable lifestyle. (*See*, *e.g.*, T. Vol. 2, p. 254). The couple took frequent pleasure trips across the globe and visited casinos throughout Mississippi and Las Vegas, Nevada. (*See*, *e.g.*, T. Vol. 3, p. 254, Vol. 2, p. 116). Walter traveled annually to Scotland to play golf. (T. Vol. 3, p. 249). Walter and Patricia owned a second home at Old Waverly Golf Club, were members of the Club, and had paid an additional \$10,000 to join the "Cameron Club" at Old Waverly as founding members. (*See* T. Vol. 4, p. 425; T. Vol. 3, p. 259-60).

The evidence adduced at trial showed that Walter gambled heavily during the marriage. (See, e.g., T. Vol. 2, p. 116; Vol. 4, 399). For instance, Walter's 2005 income tax return showed that he had gambling winnings of \$2,172,000 and that his losses had equaled those winnings. (T. Vol. 4, p. 399). Patricia had spent time with Walter at casinos during their marriage, but her gambling paled in comparison to Walter's. (T. Vol. 3, p. 249). Patricia's testimony summarized the couple's lavish marital lifestyle by noting "[w]e had a very good lifestyle. We could do about anything we wanted to do and go wherever we wanted to go whenever we wanted to go." (R. Vol. 3, p. 254).

The couple financed their lifestyle by the operation of various businesses. The most valuable business, and the couple's primary source of income throughout the marriage, was Northeast Metal Processing, Inc. ("NMP"). NMP is a highly successful scrap metal business located near Tupelo, Mississippi. (See, e.g., Exhibits Vol. 2, Ex. 25). The company primarily processes ferrous scrap for sale to foundries. (Id.). As of September 30, 2004, the Company had annual sales of approximately \$10.4 million. (Id.). In addition to NMP, Patricia and Walter operated businesses called Personal Storage Rooms, Sparkle Car Wash and Green Save, Inc. during their marriage. (T. Vol. 2, p. 92-94). At the time of their divorce NMP and Green Save, Inc. continued to profitably operate as going concerns. (T. Vol. 4, p. 450).

Prior to their marriage, Patricia had worked in marketing and sales for a radio station and earned about \$18,000 per year. (T. Vol. 3, p. 242, 272). After she married Walter Patricia quit her job and managed one of the couple's businesses for thirteen years. (T. Vol. 3, p. 242, 248). Additionally, Patricia frequently entertained customers of NMP as part of the Company's business endeavors. (T. Vol. 3, p. 248). Patricia testified that she would research the lives of NMP customers as Walter expected her to assist in the entertaining of Company clients. (*Id.*).

Two competing experts testified as to the value of NMP as of June 30, 2004.¹ Brent McDade, a business appraiser with Mercer Capital was retained to provide expert opinion testimony as to the value of the business on behalf of Patricia Fleishhacker. (T. Vol. 2, p. 140). McDade first noted that his opinion of the value of NMP depended on whether outstanding loans to Walter Fleishhacker were counted as receivables. (T. Vol. 3, p. 157). Walter admitted that he frequently took loans from NMP, that he intended on paying the loans back and that he remained

¹ The Trial Court ruled that the operative date for valuation of NMP was as near as possible to the entry of the Agreed Temporary Order on June 22, 2004. (T. Vol. 3, p. 153). However, as discussed below, Patricia also proffered McDade's opinion as to value of NMP on October 31, 2006, nearer to the time of trial. The record exhibits that the value of NMP appreciated approximately \$2,150,000 from the entry of the temporary order in 2004 until October 31, 2006. (T. Vol. 3, p. 180-82).

indebted to NMP as of the time of trial. (R. Vol. 2, p. 38). Walter used many of the loans from NMP to satisfy his personal indebtedness from gambling markers. (T. Vol. 2, p. 46).

McDade found that, as of June 30, 2004, NMP's books indicated that Walter owed a balance of \$1,080,292 on loans from the company. (T. Vol. 3, p. 158). Based on this, McDade rendered two opinions as to the value of NMP. (T. Vol. 3, p. 157). McDade opined that if Walter's indebtedness were considered, NMP's fair market value would be \$3.4 million as of June 30, 2004. (*Id.*). If Walter's indebtedness were not counted, NMP's value would be \$2,325,000. (*Id.*). Walter's retained expert, in contrast, testified that in his opinion the Company was worth only approximately \$1,577,000 as of June 30, 2004. (T. Vol. 3, p. 173; Exhibits Vol. 2, Ex. 44). However, NMP had cash-on-hand of \$1,418,550 as of June 30, 2004; by the end of 2006 NMP had cash reserves of \$4,209,536. (T. Vol. 4, p. 388).

The Trial Court found that Brent McDade, Patricia's expert, was the more credible of the two witnesses and accepted his valuation of NMP. (T. Vol. 4. p. 443). The Court, however, did not count Walter's significant indebtedness to the Company as of June 30, 2004, and effectively found that the indebtedness was not an asset of the Company. (T. Vol. 4, p. 444). Although Walter testified that he had paid back a significant amount of the debt, considered the debt to be legitimate loans and intended to pay all of the debt to the Company eventually, the Trial Court held that:

I realize that the matter of the debt was considered by Mercer in establishing this value, the debt that Walter owes to the company. The court does not consider that debt as a part of the overall value of the company. It's basically a debt to himself. He owns the company, he is the company. Without him, there is no company. And consequently that debt is owed back to him is not considered a part on [sic] the valuation of the company as noted in one of the alternative valuations given by the Mercer group.

(T. Vol. 4 p. 444).

In addition to ignoring Walter's debt to NMP, the Trial Court found that twenty-five percent of the value of NMP was Walter's separate property, since he had acquired it before his marriage to Patricia. (T. Vol. 4, p. 429). It was undisputed at trial that Walter owned a minority interest in NMP before his marriage to Patricia. (*See* T. Vol. 2, p. 84, Vol. 3, p. 250). Walter acquired all of the remaining interest in NMP during his marriage to Patricia. (*Id.*).

The evidence established that Walter and Patricia both participated in the successful operation of NMP during their marriage and that the Company was the couple's most valuable asset and primary source of income. (See, e.g., T. Vol. 3, p. 242, 248). Moreover, all of the shares of NMP were titled in the name "Walter Fleishhacker and Patricia Fleishhacker, as joint tenants with right of survivorship" in the year 1996. (Exhibits Vol. 1, Exs. 18-19). Shortly before the shares were titled to the couple jointly, Patricia executed an Agreement agreeing to convey her interest in the stock back to Walter upon his request, and agreeing that her joint ownership would not give her any greater interest in NMP "than she would otherwise have." (Exhibits Vol. 2, Ex. 41).

The Trial Court found that since Walter owned a minority position in NMP prior to his marriage to Patricia this interest in NMP was therefore separate property as of the divorce. (T. Vol. 4, p. 429). However, the Trial Court allowed Walter credit, as separate property, for twenty-five percent of the Company's value as of June 30, 2004, rather than the Company's value as of the date of the Parties' marriage in 1981. (T. Vol. 4, p. 450). By so doing, the Trial Court found that \$581,250, twenty-five percent of the marital assets' 2004 value, constituted Walter's separate property and was not subject to equitable division. (Id.).

Other than NMP, the Trial Court found that the following other marital property existed and was valued as set forth below:

Property	<u>Value</u>
Marital residence ("Belden residence")	\$380,000
Old Waverly residence	\$290,000
Walter's furniture and jewelry	\$47,800
Walter's art	\$90,300
Patricia's art	\$100,400
Patricia's furniture and jewelry	\$145,000
Green Save, Inc.	\$460,000
Green Save land and building	\$150,000
Walter's 401(k) (less \$50,00 separate portion)	\$304,566
75 % of NMP	\$1,743,750

(See R. Vol. 2, p. 235; T. Vol. 4, p. 450). The Court recognized that Patricia testified that the value of her jewelry was \$35,000 and that all of the jewelry had been gifts from Walter to her. (See T. Vol. 4, p. 328, p. 429). However, the Court concluded that the jewelry nevertheless constituted marital property. (T. vol. 4, p. 439). Thus, the Court concluded that Patricia had no separate property at all. (See id.).

The Court found that, under an analysis of the *Ferguson* factors, the Parties should each be awarded one-half of the marital estate. (T. Vol. 4, p. 450). The Court held that Patricia was entitled to the Belden residence, her furniture and art, her jewelry, a vehicle to be titled from NMP and one-half of the marital portion of Walter's 401(k) for a total value of \$777,678. (R. Vol. 2, p. 235, T. Vol. 4. p. 450). The Court found that Patricia would be entitled to the amount of \$1,078,225 to bring her total share of the marital assets to \$1,855,903. (T. Vol. 4, p. 450-51).

The Court thus awarded Patricia \$800,000 as a division of the marital assets and \$278,225 as lump sum alimony. (T. Vol. 2, p. 236-37).

Finally it is notable that at the time of trial Walter testified that his salary from NMP was \$33,500 per month. (T. Vol. 2. p. 34). In addition to that, Walter received Social Security benefits of \$1,782 and rental income of \$5,700 per month. (*Id.*). Patricia was not employed, and had no prospects that would enable her to earn a living after the divorce. (T. Vol. 4, p. 327). The evidence at trial showed that Patricia had no retirement account, and her monthly expenses were approximately \$10,025. (T. Vol. 4, p. 255-60).

As discussed fully below, Patricia claims that the Trial Court erred by not giving her an equitable distribution of the true value of the marital property. Accordingly, for the below reasons, Patricia Fleishhacker requests this Court to reverse the Trial Court's decision.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court employs a limited standard of review of property division and distribution in divorce cases. *Owen v. Owen*, 928 So. 2d 156, 160 (Miss. 2006). A Chancellor's decision as to property distribution is upheld so long as it is supported by "substantial credible evidence." *Carrow v. Carrow*, 642 So.2d 901, 904 (Miss. 1994).

However, such deference is not afforded to the Chancellor's conclusions of law. Marshall v. Gipson Steel, Inc., 806 So. 2d 266 (Miss. 2002). The Court reviews the Chancellor's interpretation and application of the law de novo. Singley v. Singley, 846 So. 2d 1004, 1006 (Miss. 2002).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Several errors require reversal of the Trial Court's decision in this case. First, Walter's pre-marital twenty-five percent interest in NMP was converted to marital property during the

marriage by the doctrine of commingling. All of the shares of NMP were held together and treated the same during the marriage and no portion was treated as separate property. Moreover, all of the shares had been titled jointly in Patricia and Walter's names during the marriage. Any separate interest in the company was manifestly commingled with the marital interest during the marriage, such that all of the shares of NMP became marital property. Accordingly, the Trial Court erred in concluding that twenty-five percent of NMP was Walter's separate property.

However, even if twenty-five percent of NMP was Walter's separate property, the Trial Court nevertheless erred by valuing the separate portion as of June 30, 2004, rather than the date of the Parties' marriage. Mississippi law establishes that the appreciation of NMP during the marriage is a marital asset. Thus, Walter's separate portion of NMP, if any, must be valued as of the date of the marriage, rather than the decades later date of the temporary order. Otherwise, Patricia is unfairly deprived of the appreciation in the asset during the marriage. The Trial Court erred in valuing Walter's separate interest based on its 2004 value rather than its 1981 value.

Similarly, Patricia takes issue with the Trial Court valuing the remaining interest in NMP as of the time of the temporary order rather than the time of trial. The asset appreciated approximately \$2.1 million during this short period of time. To the extent this appreciation over less than three years was attributable to economic forces, such as fluctuations in the scrap metal market, the appreciation was a marital asset and should have thus been valued as the date of the divorce. As to this issue, the Court should remand for the Trial Court to determine the extent of the appreciation attributable to market forces following the entry of the temporary order.

The Trial Court also erred by ignoring Walter's approximately \$1.1 million in outstanding loans owed to NMP. The Trial Court erred by concluding that the loans were merely a debt Walter owed to himself. Mississippi law establishes that the NMP had a legal existence

completely apart from Walter, and that Walter's account receivable was an asset of the Company which should have been considered in valuing the business.

The Trial Court next erred in classifying Patricia's jewelry as marital property. The uncontraverted testimony at trial established that the jewelry had been gifts from Walter to Patricia during the marriage. Gifts of such a personal nature are separate property of the donee spouse. Thus, these items should have been treated as Patricia's separate property.

Finally, the Trial Court committed reversible error by failing to classify or value two items of the marital estate: the Old Waverly Golf Club membership and the accompanying Cameron Club membership. These items were identified as assets by Patricia in evidence adduced at trial. The Trial Court erred in failing to mention these assets in any respect. Thus, the Court should remand the matter to the Trial Court to consider these assets.

ARGUMENT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT TWENTY FIVE PERCENT OF NMP WAS WALTER'S SEPARATE PROPERTY SINCE THE PROPERTY WAS COMMINGLED.

A. The framework for equitable distribution.

The equitable distribution analysis involves the following steps: 1) classifying assets as either marital or separate; 2) valuation of the assets; 3) division of marital property equitably; 4) awarding alimony as needed following the division of marital assets. See, e.g., Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So. 2d 921, 925 (Miss. 1994). The Supreme Court in Ferguson held that Chancery Courts should look to the following factors in making an equitable division:

- 1. Substantial contribution to the accumulation of the property. Factors to be considered in determining contribution are as follows:
 - a. Direct or indirect economic contribution to the acquisition of the property;
 - b. Contribution to the stability and harmony of the marital and family relationships as measured by quality, quantity of time spent on family duties and duration of the marriage; and

- c. Contribution to the education, training or other accomplishment bearing on the earning power of the spouse accumulating the assets.
- 2. The degree to which each spouse has expended, withdrawn or otherwise disposed of marital assets and any prior distribution of such assets by agreement, decree or otherwise.
- 3. The market value and the emotional value of the assets subject to distribution.
- 4. The value of assets not ordinarily, absent equitable factors to the contrary, subject to such distribution, such as property brought to the marriage by the parties and property acquired by inheritance or inter vivos gift by or to an individual spouse;
- 5. Tax and other economic consequences, and contractual or legal consequences to third parties, of the proposed distribution
- 6. The extent to which property division may, with equity to both parties, be utilized to eliminate periodic payments and other potential sources of future friction between the parties;
- 7. The needs of the parties for financial security with due regard to the combination of assets, income and earning capacity; and,
- 8. Any other factor which in equity should be considered.

Ferguson, 639 So. 2d at 928 (Miss. 1994). Equitable division does not necessarily mean an equal division. Gray v. Gray, 745 So. 2d 234, 239 (Miss. 1999). However, spouses are entitled to support sufficient to maintain the lifestyle to which they were accustomed during the marriage. Box v. Box, 622 So. 2d 284, 288 (Miss. 1993).

In classifying marital property, there is a presumption that any property acquired during the marriage is marital property. *Hemsley v. Hemsley*, 639 So. 2d 909, 914 (1994). A party who claims certain property is separate bears the burden of proof in this regard. *Hemsley*, 639 So. 2d at 914.

B. Since Walter's pre-marital ownership of NMP was commingled, one hundred percent of NMP was marital property subject to equitable distribution.

The Trial Court concluded, based on expert witness testimony, that 100 percent of NMP had a value of \$2,325,000 as of the operative date of June 30, 2004.² However, the Court held that since Walter had owned twenty five percent of NMP prior to the marriage in 1981, this

² This valuation, as discussed more fully below, did not account for the approximately \$1.1 million owed by Walter to the Company as of this date.

percentage of ownership in the Company was Walter's separate property, rather than marital property.

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