PATRICIA FLEISHHACKER

vs.

i

WALTER FLEISHHACKER

APPEALED FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LEE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NUMBER 04-0395-41-L

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JOHN A. FERRELL FERRELL & MARTIN, P.A. POST OFFICE BOX 146 BOONEVILLE, MISSISSIPPI 38829 TELEPHONE (662)728-5361 MISSISSIPPI STATE BAR

Attorney for Appellee

APPELLEE

APPELLANT

PATRICIA FLEISHHACKER

APPELLANT

VS.

WALTER FLEISHHACKER

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Walter denies that the Lower Court committed any reversible error on the six issues that Patricia raises in the appeal. Walter was clearly the owner of twenty-five percent (25%) in NMP prior to the marriage and while the Court held that the other seventy-five percent (75%) of NMP acquired during the marriage was a marital asset, does not make Walter's twenty-five percent (25%) separate property marital property under the doctrine of commingling. The Court properly valued Walter's twenty-five percent (25%) interest in NMP as part of his separate estate and the failing to determine its value at the time of the marriage versus at the time of the Temporary Order was not reversible error.

Under applicable law, the Court further correctly held that the time to value NMP was as of June 30, 2004, about the time that a Temporary Support Order was entered. There is nothing in the record to reflect that an exception to the <u>Godwin</u> doctrine was appropriate in this case and pursuant to that decision and the <u>Pittman</u> case, the appropriate valuation of NMP was as of June 30, 2004.

3

APPELLEE

The record is certainly clear from the testimony of the two expert witnesses who valued NMP that NMP is what it is because of Walter. Both experts noted that the business was a high risk business, a very specialized business and due to the fact that it had only three main customers, Walter's personal relationship with these costumers was of the utmost importance. Without Walter there would be no business. Even with their strong statement of Walter's "goodwill", the Lower Court adopted the valuation of Patricia's expert over Walter's expert which resulted in Patricia's portion of the assets being several hundred thousand dollars higher.

The non-inclusion of the advances in the valuation was also warranted as both parties enjoyed the benefit of those advances throughout the marriage and it would have been improper to include them in the valuation. Neither expert had any problem with that procedure.

The last two points raised by Patricia are of little importance as to the overall value of the marital estate. As to her jewelry, the Court also included Walter's jewelry as a marital asset. The inclusion of jewelry is in the discretion of the Court according to the facts of each case. As to the Old Waverly Golf Club stock and the Cameron's Membership, there was absolutely no value presented to the Court on either of those items and without some proof, the Court was powerless to determine a value of those items of property which, frankly, would have to be insignificant

compared to the overall value of the marital estate as determined by the Court.

The Court's decision was fair, equitable and proper under the facts and law of this case and should be affirmed.

i,

Ī

ĩ

ί,

PATRICIA FLEISHHACKER

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

VS.

WALTER FLEISHHACKER

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction and Standard of Review

The Standard of Review in a domestic relations case is stated in <u>Foster v. Foster</u>, 788 So.2nd 779, **¶**4 (Miss. App. 2000) as follows: "The standard of review employed by this Court in domestic relations cases is abundantly clear. Chancellors are vested with broad discretion and this Court will not disturb the Chancellor's findings unless the Court was manifestly wrong, the Court abused its discretion or the Court applied an erroneous legal standard."

The Appellate Court is required to respect the findings of fact by the Chancellor which are supported by substantial credible evidence and not manifestly wrong. <u>Steiner v. Steiner</u>, 788 So.2nd 771, ¶7 (Miss. 2001)

In her brief, Patricia contends that the Lower Court committed reversible error on six issues. Walter submits that the Lower Court committed no error on these six issues and in a comprehensive

bench opinion, clearly set forth a proper analysis of the facts and applied the appropriate law to those facts in rendering his decision which should be affirmed by this Court.

7

Ì

II. The Trial Court did not err in determining that twentyfive percent (25%) of NMP was Walter's separate property.

As to the business NMP, it is uncontradicted that at the time of the marriage of these parties on January 3, 1981, Walter already owned twenty-five percent (25%) of the stock in NMP, having acquired it in 1974. (Tr. 385-386) Sometime in 1993, Walter purchased the remaining seventy-five percent (75%) of stock in NMP from its owners and financed that purchase of stock through a bank loan. (Tr. 414)

In her brief, Patricia complains of the Trial Court's failure to hold that one hundred percent of NMP was a marital asset as of the operative date June 30, 2004, and in holding that Walter owned twenty-five (25%) percent of NMP prior to the marriage which remained his separate property. Patricia contends that the doctrine of commingling requires one hundred percent of the stock of NMP to be deemed a marital asset subject to division.

This Court has ruled that assets accumulated during the marriage are marital assets and are subject to equitable division unless it can be proven that such assets are attributed to one of the parties separate estates either prior to the marriage or outside of the marriage. <u>Hemsley v. Hemsley</u> 639 So.2nd 909, 915, (Miss. 1994). It has also been generally held that property owned by one spouse prior to the marriage is separate property. <u>Bunyard</u> 828 So. 2nd 775, **§**8 (Miss. 2002). Patricia seeks to

invoke the doctrine of commingling as a basis for claiming that Walter's twenty-five percent (25%) ownership of NMP obtained prior to the marriage lost its character as his separate property because the remaining seventy-five percent (75%) was acquired during the marriage and thus the shares of stock were "commingled".

It is clear that there was never any intent to commingle Walter's already acquired interest in NMP with the newly acquired interest during the marriage. In fact, the agreement (Exhibit 41, Tr. 322, 324)that Patricia seeks to use as proof that one hundred percent (100%) of the stock was a marital asset actually proves just the opposite. The agreement executed by Patricia provides that she would reconvey the stock to Walter at any time that he requested it and that the transfer would not enhance her rights to the stock in the event of a divorce. This clearly shows an intent on the part of Walter and an acquiescence therein by Patricia that she had no interest in NMP other than what might be imposed $\log \phi$ Court in a divorce case.

Although commingling of separate assets with marital assets can transform the separate asset to a marital asset, such a rule is not absolute. In <u>Oliver v. Oliver</u> 812 So. 2nd 1128 ¶23, (Miss. App. 2002), the Court held that the depositing of inherited money into a family checking account alone did not result in the doctrine of commingling as there was no showing of an intent to convert the funds to marital funds. In this case, the Court clearly held that

the seventy-five percent (75%) acquired during the marriage was a marital asset. However, the Court also found that Walter's twentyfive percent (25%) prior ownership of stock in NMP for some eight years prior to the marriage continued to be his separate estate. This finding is supported by substantial evidence and the Court's ruling is in accordance with the law.

One theme throughout this appeal is the alleged non-economic contributions of Patricia to NMP. Patricia testified that she, on occasion, helped entertain the customers of NMP and kept notes for Walter on certain of the customers family activities. (Tr. 248) However, she also admitted that after 1999, she no longer held a Christmas party and after February 2001, she did nothing to entertain any of the customers of NMP. (Tr. 316-317) She also admitted that the events that she was involved in were catered. admitted, however, that 318) She she never had (Tr. any involvement with the day to day business of NMP throughout their entire marriage. (Tr. 317)

Walter, on the other hand, is and always has been the driving force of NMP. It is through his efforts that the business was acquired, twenty-five percent (25%) in 1974 and the balance sometime in 1993 and any success that the business has realized in the last several years has been through a combination of the efforts of Walter (Tr. 189-190) and the fact that the price of

scrap metal was at some of the highest levels ever in 2004 and 2005. (Tr. 230, 231)

In the case of <u>Craft v. Craft</u> 825 So. 2nd 605 ¶12, (Miss. 2002) the Supreme Court held that a chancellor was correct in determining that the husband's partnership interest in an auto sales business The business had existed for several was not a marital asset. years prior to the marriage and it remained outside the marriage and any contributions to the business of the wife were found to be negligible. She was never a significant contributor to the business, took no active part in the business, did not participate in business decisions and did not invest or contribute money to its ongoing operations. In Craft, the party certainly utilized funds from the business for familial reasons, but that in and of itself did not result in a commingling of the partnership money with A & L, Inc. vs. Grantham, 747 So.2nd 832, personal money. In (Miss. 1999), relied upon by Patricia, there was a piercing of the corporate veil which was an element of the Court's findings which is not present in this case.

The <u>Craft</u> decision is in line with prior decisions of this Court which have held that any increase in the non-marital asset acquired subsequent to the marriage may be a marital asset but that does not make the non-marital portion of the asset marital under the doctrine of commingling. If Patricia's rational is correct, this Court's rulings in several cases, <u>Maring v. Waring</u> 722 So. 2nd

723, (Miss. App. 1998), (involving a family business that increases in value with only the increase constituting a potentially marital asset) and <u>Barnett v. Barnett</u> 908 So. 2nd 833, ¶11, (Miss. App. 2005) (where the Court found that only that portion of the husband's IRA acquired after the marriage to be a marital asset with his accumulation prior to the marriage being his separate property) would have to be overruled. The doctrine of commingling has no application to Walter's twenty-five percent (25%) of stock that he owned before the marriage and the chancellor did not commit any error in so finding. III. The Court properly valued the separate interest of Walter as of the date of the Temporary Order rather than the date of the parties' marriage.

On June 22, 2004, the Court entered an Agreed Temporary Support Order in this case. (CP 31, 32) The Court used this date as a "line of demarcation" pursuant to the decisions in <u>Godwin v.</u> <u>Godwin</u>, 758 So. 2nd 384 (Miss. 1999) and <u>Pittman v. Pittman</u>, 791 So. 2nd 857 (Miss. App. 2001) which held that assets acquired after the entry of a Temporary Order are separate property of the party acquiring them and thus the valuation of NMP was proper as of June 30, 2004. This issue will be further discussed in this brief but on this point, Patricia objects to the value of Walter's twentyfive percent (25%) interest being as of June 30, 2004, instead of at the time of their marriage.

Patricia against cites the <u>Grantham</u> case for the proposition that the valuation date of Walter's twenty-five percent (25%) was improper and should have been done as of the date of their marriage. As noted in the <u>Craft</u> case at ¶15, at most, any increase in the value of Walter's twenty-five percent :25%) of NMP acquired before the marriage would be all that would be a marital asset.

Both experts testified that one significant variable in the value of the company was dependant upon the scrap metal market. (Tr.166,350) Apparently that business had not changed significantly since its inception and therefore, some of the

÷ i

increase in the value of his twenty-five percent (25%) was related to the market. This would also be true of the other seventy-five percent (75%) of NMP but no consideration was given for this fact in awarding to Patricia an award based in part on the value of seventy-five percent (75%) of NMP. As noted in the <u>Craft</u> case, even if neither party had established with any degree of accuracy what the value of the business had increased from the date of the marriage up to the time of the separation (in that case), it is clear that the chancellor considered the overall equitable division of property in making his award and the failure to specifically note what, if any, there was in the increase of the value of the property does not negate his overall award being fair under Ferguson.

Further, in <u>Craft</u>, at ¶13, citing <u>Brown v. Brown</u> 574 So. 2nd 688, 691 (Miss. 1990), it was noted that it is well established that a spouse is not automatically entitled to an equal share of property accumulated even if in part through the contributions of both parties. The case of <u>Carrow v. Carrow</u>, 642 So. 2nd 901, 907, (Miss. 1994), held that "the appreciation of the value of any nonmarital asset may be taken into account to arrive at a fair division to the extent the non-titled spouse has made a contribution toward the appreciation of value." In this case, there is no proof whatsoever that Patricia made a contribution toward the appreciation of the value of Walter's twenty-five

percent (25%). There is no obligation under these cases to award any in-kind interest to a non-titled spouse in the increase of a non-marital asset, when the Court has taken into consideration the overall facts of the case and made an award that is clearly just and fair. IV. The Court did not err in valuing NMP as of the date of the Temporary Order as this was the appropriate date pursuant to applicable law.

During the course of the trial and while Patricia's expert was on the stand, the chancellor below ruled that the appropriate date of valuation of NMP was June 30, 2004, based upon the fact that a Temporary Support Order had been entered by the Court on that date. The Court's ruling was based upon the decisions in the cases of <u>Pittman v. Pittman</u> 791 So. 2nd 857, (Miss. App. 2001) and <u>Godwin v.</u> <u>Godwin</u> 758 So. 2nd 384, (Miss. 1999). (Tr. 152-155) Patricia contends that the proper date for valuing NMP should be October 31, 2006, near the time of trial.

<u>Godwin</u> at ¶7, provides that assets acquired after an Order for Separate Maintenance should be considered the separate property of the party acquiring it absent a showing of a contribution to the acquisition of the asset by the other spouse under <u>Ferguson</u>, or the acquisition of the asset was through the use of marital property. The <u>Pittman</u> case at ¶16 provides that income earned by a spouse after a Separate Maintenance Order is also separate property. The Court in <u>Pittman</u> at ¶17 further held that the <u>Godwin</u> doctrine applies to the entry of an Order for temporary support.

Patricia contends that there is no case specifically addressing the issue of appreciation or depreciation of a going

1,

concern and the effect that the <u>Godwin</u> doctrine has upon that situation. Suffice it to say that her reliance on Justice Bank's separate opinion in <u>Heigle v. Heigle</u> 771 So. 2nd 341, ¶48 (Miss. 2000) is misplaced. Justice Banks does not address the <u>Godwin</u> doctrine per se but merely makes reference to <u>Godwin</u> as being one of the time frames that the Courts have utilized in valuing marital property. However, a close reading of the <u>Pittman</u> case at ¶17 answers the question before the Court on this issue. In <u>Pittman</u>, the Court held:

"It is also argued that this elaboration on the Godwin doctrine creates a dilemma for the non-income earning spouse. Seeking support could end the right to share in subsequent increases in the marital estate while eschewing support could lead to financial struggles. Certainly the latter is true and should be avoided. The existence of the former is not a dilemma but a Godwin "line of demarcation". The divorce itself ends the creation of new marital property. <u>Godwin</u> states that a Separate Maintenance agreement at least interrupts it as What joins the concept of a Separate Maintenance well. Agreement to that of temporary support is that both are practical recognitions that the spouses are no longer living together as husband and wife and support for separate households must exist. Both are formal but tentative steps to an uncertain destination, perhaps back to a successful marriage or in a different direction to a divorce."

It is clear under <u>Pittman</u> and <u>Godwin</u> that the proper date to value NMP is the date of the entry of the Temporary Support Order.

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